IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

COREY ROBERT FENTON,  
Defendant-Appellant.

SUPREME COURT  
NO. 22-1681

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, JUDGE (TRIAL,  
POSTTRIAL, AND SENTENCING)

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

MARTHA J. LUCEY  
State Appellate Defender

JOSH IRWIN  
Assistant Appellate Defender  
[jirwin@spd.state.ia.us](mailto:jirwin@spd.state.ia.us)  
[appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us](mailto:appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us)

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE  
Fourth Floor Lucas Building  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**I. The district court erred in overruling Fenton’s objection to a photographic exhibit, because its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of needlessly presenting cumulative evidence and of unfair prejudice.**

### **Authorities**

State v. Dessinger, 958 N.W.2d 590, 598 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Helmers, 753 N.W.2d 565, 567 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

State v. Sassman, No. 21-0434, 2022 WL 4361785, at \*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 21, 2022)

State v. Buelow, 951 N.W.2d 879, 889 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Henderson, 696 N.W.2d 5, 10–11 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196, 209 (Iowa 2008)

**II. The evidence was insufficient to establish anything of value was given to, promised to, or received by anyone in exchange for a sex act or sexually explicit performance.**

### **Authorities**

State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189, 202 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Folkers, 941 N.W.2d 337, 338 (Iowa 2020)



Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(a)

State v. Dalton, 674 N.W.2d 111, 116 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

Iowa Code § 710A.2A

Iowa Code § 710A.1

Iowa Code § 710A.1(1)

State v. Hughes, No. 07-0988, 2008 WL 3364043, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2008) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Osmundson, 546 N.W.2d 907, 909 (Iowa 1996)

*Coerce Definition*, Merriam-Webster, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/coerce> (last visited June 1, 2023)

*Recruit Definition*, Merriam-Webster, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/recruit> (last visited June 1, 2023)

**III. The district court applied the wrong standard when evaluating Fenton’s motion for new trial.**

**Authorities**

State v. Scalise, 660 N.W.2d 58, 65 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ary, 877 N.W.2d 686, 705 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Reeves, 670 N.W.2d 199, 202 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655, 658-59 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 193 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 559 (Iowa 2006)

Commonwealth v. Widmer, 560 Pa. 308, 744 A.2d 745, 751 (2000)

**IV. The district court imposed an illegal sentence by ordering Fenton to complete the sex offender treatment program while incarcerated.**

#### **Authorities**

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 872 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Damme, 944 N.W.2d 98, 103 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Formaro, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215, 217 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Hess, 533 N.W.2d 525, 527 (Iowa 1995)

Iowa Code § 901.5

Dykstra v. Iowa Dist. Court for Jones County, 783 N.W.2d 473, 478–79 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Gardner, No. 22-0422, 2023 WL 153509, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2023) (unpublished table decision)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case**

The defendant-appellant, Corey Fenton, appeals from his conviction, judgment, and sentence for solicitation of commercial sexual activity, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 710A.2A.

### **Course of Proceedings**

The State charged Fenton with solicitation of commercial sexual activity in violation of Iowa Code section 710A.2A by trial information filed February 18, 2022. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5). Fenton entered a plea of not guilty the same day. (Order of Arraignment) (App. pp. 6-8).

On March 21, Fenton filed a motion for bill of particulars, asking that the State identify “what item of value Defendant is

alleged to have ‘given, promised to, or received’ for ‘any sex act or sexually explicit performance’.” (Motion for Bill of Particulars p. 1) (App. p. 9). The matter was heard on April 5. The State alleged Fenton offered clothes, food, marijuana, payment for an Uber ride, and payment for a shower, and that any one of those offers would be sufficient. (4/5/2022 Hearing Tr. p. 5 L. 11–p. 7 L. 8). The district court denied the motion, stating the original minutes of evidence, as well as the amended minutes filed after the hearing, were sufficient. (4/5/2022 Hearing Tr. p. 8 L. 22–p. 9 L. 1; Order Denying Motion for Bill of Particulars p. 1) (App. p. 11).

Trial began on May 9. Fenton objected to the State submitting a photo of a penis, allegedly sent by him during a conversation with a police officer posing as a juvenile female, arguing its probative value was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and that it was “duplicative” to an interview video where the picture was discussed. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 158 L. 15–p. 159 L. 3). After hearing from the State, the

district court overruled the objection. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 161 L. 25–p. 162 L. 1).

At the close of the State’s evidence, Fenton moved for judgment of acquittal, arguing the State failed to prove the “commercial sexual activity” element because no evidence indicated anything of value was offered in exchange for sex. (4/10/2022 Trial Tr. p. 36 L. 7–p. 40 L. 22). After hearing from the State, the district court denied the motion. (4/10/2022 Trial Tr. p. 44 L. 14–p. 45 L. 18). Fenton raised the same motion after indicating the defense would rest, and was again denied. (4/10/2022 Trial Tr. p. 55 L. 19–p. 56 L. 4). The jury returned a verdict of guilty. (4/10/2022 Trial Tr. p. 86 L. 16–21; Verdict) (App. p. 16).

Fenton filed a motion for new trial on June 16, arguing “[t]he verdict is contrary to law or evidence in violation of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(b)(6).” (Motion for New Trial p. 1) (App. p. 17).

The district court denied Fenton's motion on August 19. It characterized his motion for new trial as a "challenge[] to the sufficiency of the evidence," and said that the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, was sufficient for conviction. (Order Denying Defense Motions p. 1) (App. p. 20).

A combined sentencing hearing took place September 23, addressing this case and several others. In this case, the district court imposed a term of incarceration not to exceed five years, ordered him to complete sex offender treatment while in custody, ordered him to register as a sex offender and pay a \$260 civil penalty and \$25 annual fee associated with the registry, and suspended a fine of \$1875. (Sentencing Tr. p. 17 L. 12–p. 18 L. 4, p. 18 L. 21–25). The court ordered the sentence in this case to run consecutively to the sentences imposed in the other cases addressed. (Sentencing Tr. p. 18 L. 5–12). The court filed an order of disposition the same day. (Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 23-29).

Fenton filed a notice of appeal through counsel on October 5. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 30-31).

### **Facts**

Altoona Detective David Lowe created a fake Facebook profile posing as a 15-year-old female called Neveah Roberts. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 166 L. 21–p. 167 L. 20). He testified Fenton initiated a conversation with that account using Facebook Messenger, beginning on November 20, 2021. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 170 L. 18–p. 171 L. 3, p. 174 L. 23–p. 175 L. 1).

The conversation, which spanned from November 20, 2021 to January 7, 2022, was initially mildly flirtatious but gradually turned sexual. Beginning on November 30, Lowe (posing as Roberts) and Fenton began discussing meeting to have sex, and potential meeting places. See (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation<sup>1</sup> pp. 116–119) (Ex. App. pp. 121-124).

---

<sup>1</sup> The State submitted two exhibits containing this conversation: one with photos included (exhibit 7) and one with photos removed (exhibit 8). (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 10 L. 9–p. 12 L. 11, p. 163 L. 13–18). Both show the conversation

On December 27, Lowe asked “Where u wanna go do this”, Fenton suggested “my place”, Lowe said that would not work, and Fenton suggested renting a shower room at a truck stop. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation pp. 75–76) (Ex. App. pp. 80–81).

On January 2, Lowe asked “U still down for the showers at flyin j?” (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 69) (Ex. App. p. 74). Later that day, Lowe asked “What would u do 4 a threesome”, Fenton asked “what do i need to do lol”, Lowe said “Idk. Girls like food and clothes lol”, and Fenton said “ok i have no prob spoiling a likl”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 63) (Ex. App. p. 68).

On January 3, Lowe asked “U bringing me some food?” (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 47) (Ex. App. p. 52).

---

in reverse chronological order—the first message on the first page is the last message sent. Quotations of the text exchange are reproduced verbatim throughout this brief. No alterations to spelling or capitalization were made, and punctuation which did not appear in the message is intentionally placed outside of quotation marks.



Fenton responded “sure lol” then followed up with “this cock”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 47) (Ex. App. p. 52).

On January 4, Lowe said “i don’t have any money 2 rent the showers” and Fenton responded “ill get it no worries”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 43) (Ex. App. p. 48).

On January 6, Lowe asked “What u wanna do after our time in the shower” then asked Fenton “What do u like to do” and he responded “smoke lol”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 27) (Ex. App. p. 32). Lowe asked if he meant “Weed”, Fenton said he did, and Lowe said “Lol ok I’m down”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 27) (Ex. App. p. 32). Lowe asked if Fenton had any marijuana, and Fenton said “I have to gdet more”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 26) (Ex. App. p. 31).

On January 7, the day the meeting was to take place, Fenton said he was having car trouble and asked Lowe “Can I Uber you here?” (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation pp. 13–15) (Ex. App. pp. 18-20). Lowe asked if Fenton could Uber to

the truck stop, and Fenton said he would be stuck if he did because he did not have money to get home; Lowe responded by saying “I got \$20”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation pp. 12–13) (Ex. App. pp. 17-18). Later, Fenton said “If I Uber and get the shower I can’t Uber back”, and Lowe repeated “ya i got \$20 so no worries.” (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 9) (Ex. App. p. 14). Fenton said “Go to flying js buy a shower from the clerk then go upstairs and wait in a chair ok”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 4) (Ex. App. p. 9). Fenton instructed Lowe to “Walk up to lady and tell her you want a shower and you pay for it”. (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation p. 3) (Ex. App. p. 8).

Fenton was arrested when he arrived at the truck stop. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 185 L. 4–20).

## ARGUMENT

**I. The district court erred in overruling Fenton’s objection to a photographic exhibit, because its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of needlessly presenting cumulative evidence and of unfair prejudice.**

### **Preservation of Error**

Fenton objected to exhibit 6, a photograph of a penis allegedly sent by Fenton to Lowe, on the ground that it was needlessly cumulative and more prejudicial than probative. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 158 L. 15–p. 159 L. 3). The State argued the photo was important because the charge included as an element that Fenton intended to engage in a sex act, and the photo was not “any more graphic than what the defendant chose to disseminate or at least what Detective Lowe received.” (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 160 L. 4–p. 161 L. 21). The district court overruled the objection. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 161 L. 25–p. 162 L. 5). Error was preserved. See State v. Dessinger, 958 N.W.2d 590, 598 (Iowa 2021) (ruling on

contemporaneous objection to evidence preserves issue for appeal).

### **Standard of Review**

Evidentiary rulings are generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Helmers, 753 N.W.2d 565, 567 (Iowa 2008).

### **Discussion**

The district court permitted the State to submit as an exhibit a photo of an erect penis, allegedly sent by Fenton to Lowe in the course of their conversations. (5/9/2022 Trial Tr. p. 161 L. 25–p. 162 L. 5, p. 179 L. 24–p. 180 L. 8; Exhibit 6 Penis Photo) (Conf. App. p. 4). The court erred in permitting the exhibit, because its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of needless presentation of cumulative evidence and of unfair prejudice.

“The court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues,

misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.” Iowa R. Evid. 5.403. “To apply this rule, courts ask two questions: (1) what is the probative value of the evidence? And (2) does the danger of its wrongful effect on the jury weigh heavily against that probative value?” State v. Sassman, No. 21-0434, 2022 WL 4361785, at \*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 21, 2022) (citing State v. Buelow, 951 N.W.2d 879, 889 (Iowa 2020)).

First, the relevance of the photo was minimal. While the charged offense required proof of intent to engage in commercial sexual activity, which in turn potentially includes a sex act, it is unclear what value the photo could add to that determination. The text conversation submitted to the jury was clearly sexual in nature at various points and included discussions of various sex acts. See (Exhibit 7 Facebook Conversation pp. 33–35, p. 37, pp. 63–70, pp. 77–83, pp 116–117) (Ex. App. pp. 38-40, 42, 68-75, 82-88, 121-122). Insofar as the photo could be probative regarding intent to engage in

commercial sexual activity, it was cumulative and thus carried only a small amount of probative weight. Similarly, the photo was discussed during Fenton’s interview, alerting the jury to its existence. See Exhibit 10 Interview at 19:14–20:01). This further demonstrates the cumulative nature of this exhibit, and that the only probative value was that provided by actually viewing the photo. That probative value was minimal at best.

Whatever small probative value the photo could have carried was substantially outweighed by the danger of needlessly presenting cumulative evidence and of unfair prejudice to Fenton. “Evidence that . . . provokes [the jury’s] instinct to punish, or triggers other mainsprings of human action [that] may cause a jury to base its decision on something other than the established propositions in the case is unfairly prejudicial.” State v. Henderson, 696 N.W.2d 5, 10–11 (Iowa 2005) (citations and internal quotation omitted, second alteration in original). The photo carried significant

danger of triggering the jury's instinct to punish, or of otherwise improperly influencing the jury's view of the case. It is one thing for the jury to know of the photo's existence; it is quite another to make them view it. In light of the minute probative value and video-recorded discussion of the photo's existence, the photo's probative value was substantially outweighed by both the danger of needlessly presenting cumulative evidence and the danger of unfair prejudice.

Finally, the State cannot establish the erroneous admission of the photo was harmless. See State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196, 209 (Iowa 2008) (prejudice is presumed from evidentiary error "unless the contrary is affirmatively established"). As argued below, the evidence of guilt, and particularly of the commercial sexual activity element, was lacking. This is not a case where harm can be dismissed due to overwhelming evidence of guilt. Exhibit 6 called upon the jury to judge Fenton by his character, rather than presume his

innocence unless the State proved all elements of solicitation of commercial sexual activity beyond a reasonable doubt.

The district court erred in admitting exhibit 6, and the State cannot establish that error was harmless to Fenton.

### **Conclusion**

The district court erred in overruling Fenton's objection to exhibit 6, because its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of needlessly presenting cumulative evidence and the danger of unfair prejudice. Fenton's conviction should be vacated and the case remanded for new trial.

**II. The evidence was insufficient to establish anything of value was given to, promised to, or received by anyone in exchange for a sex act or sexually explicit performance, or that Fenton enticed, coerced, recruited, or attempted to entice, coerce, or recruit an individual to engage in commercial sexual activity.**

### **Preservation of Error**

Fenton moved for judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case, and renewed the motion at the close of the defense case, arguing the evidence was insufficient to



establish anything was given, promised to, or received by anyone in exchange for a sex act or sexually explicit performance. (5/10/2022 Trial Tr. p. 36 L. 2–p. 40 L. 20, p. 55 L. 19–23). The court denied Fenton’s motions. (5/10/2022 Trial Tr. p. 44 L. 14–p. 45 L. 18, p. 56 L. 3–4). Additionally, a defendant preserves error with regard to the sufficiency of evidence by taking his case to trial; nothing more is needed. State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189, 202 (Iowa 2022).

### **Standard of Review**

Challenges to the sufficiency of evidence are reviewed for errors at law. State v. Folkers, 941 N.W.2d 337, 338 (Iowa 2020). The jury’s verdict is binding if supported by substantial evidence. Id.; Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(a). “Substantial evidence means such evidence as could convince a rational trier of fact the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Dalton, 674 N.W.2d 111, 116 (Iowa 2004). The evidence is viewed in the light most

favorable to the State, but the appellate court “must consider all the record evidence, not just the evidence supporting guilt.”

Id. The evidence “must raise a fair inference of guilt and do more than create speculation, suspicion, or conjecture.”

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981).

### **Discussion**