IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 22-1681 Polk County No. FECR355616

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

COREY ROBERT FENTON, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

BRENNA BIRD Attorney General of Iowa

MORGAN SMITH

Law Student

NICHOLAS E. SIEFERT KYLE HANSON

Assistant Attorneys General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-8894 (fax) Nick.Siefert@ag.iowa.gov Kyle.Hanson@ag.iowa.gov

KIMBERLY GRAHAM Polk County Attorney

MEGGAN L. GUNS Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

requested a photo of Neveah, Detective Lowe would access a folder containing the digitally de-aged pictures and send one of the pictures to him. Trial Tr. vol. 1 154:11–15.

Detective Lowe explained that he prefers to let people add Neveah as a friend and then initiate contact with her, which is exactly what happened in this case. Trial Tr. vol. 1 168:25–169:6. Fenton and Neveah's initial conversations in late November were flirtatious yet reserved, but they quickly escalated into sexual and explicit exchanges. See State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 76–162; Ex. App. 81–167. Throughout these increasingly explicit conversations, Fenton knew that Neveah was a minor; not only did her Facebook profile state that she was fifteen, but also Neveah told Fenton multiple times that she was fifteen. Trial Tr. vol. 1 170:7–15, State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 153, 159; Ex. App. 158, 164. However, Neveah's age did not stop Fenton from pursuing her and as their conversations continued, Fenton repeatedly asked Neveah to "hang out." State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 88, 89, 95, 104, 109, 116, 119, 127, 152, 153, 155; Ex. App. 93, 94, 100, 109, 114, 121, 124, 132, 157, 158, 160.

By the beginning of December, Fenton asked Neveah if she wanted to have sex. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) Dkt. at 117–18; Ex. App. 122–23. Neveah expressed interest but explained that they would have to be careful because her mom was strict, so they would have to find a way to meet up without her mom finding out. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 116; Ex. App. 121. After Fenton's multiple unsuccessful attempts to "hang out" with Neveah, Neveah proposed an idea—she could skip school when her mom was gone on a business trip and the two of them could meet up to have sex. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 87–88; Ex. App. 92–93. At this point, the two planned to meet up but needed to figure out where to do so-Fenton suggested his apartment, but Neveah explained that the location needed to be close to her home in case she needed to leave quickly. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 75; Ex. App. 80. Fenton suggested they meet up at a Flying J truck stop in Altoona and rent a shower room. Trial Tr. vol. I 181:20–25; State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 75; Ex. App. 80.

By the end of December, Fenton began openly and explicitly propositioning Neveah for a wide variety of specific sexual acts, with the beginning portion of one such conversation reading as follows:

Fenton: sup

Neveah: what u

Fenton: ?

Neveah: whats u

Neveah: up

Fenton: my cock

Neveah: Lol I bet that's true

Fenton: lol

Fenton: slide it in you

Neveah: Haha someone is hornyyy [winking

face emoji]

Fenton: yes

Fenton: bend over and do it

Neveah: Is that what u would do 2 me?

Fenton: one of the things

Neveah: Tell me what u want 2 do

Fenton: tell me what you want me to do

Neveah: Idk

Fenton: think/

Fenton: want your pussy ate?

Neveah: yeah that sounds good

Fenton: you can sit on my face

Fenton: you gonna swallow my cum?

Fenton: can we video chat?

State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 80–83; Ex. App. 85–88. Later during the same conversation, Fenton questioned Neveah about her experience with sex and other men and Neveah indicated that she had some experience. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) Dkt. at 79–80; Ex. App. 84–85. As the conversation progressed, Fenton told Neveah he wanted to dominate her, telling her "youll be my good girl that listens" and asking "youll be my lil cum slut?" State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 77–78; Ex. App. 82–83.

A couple days later, Fenton sent the following series of messages to Neveah:

Fenton: ok bet after I eat your pussy youll be down to suck my cock

Neveah: U want that?

Neveah: How long do the showers last at

flying j

Fenton: ive been in one for couple hours

Fenton: and yes i want to throat fuck you

Neveah: Have u had sex in them b4? I've

never been

Neveah: U wanna throat fuck me?

Fenton: yeah

Fenton: lol yes

Neveah: Lol ok

Fenton: hows your gag reflex

Neveah: Never done that b4 either

Neveah: Good I guess haha [face with tears of

joy emoji]

Fenton: so i can shove my cock down there no

prob?

Neveah: Ya I guess so haha

Fenton: we will find out

State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 65-67; Ex. App. 70-72.

As these conversations progressed, Fenton also broached the idea of having a "threesome" with Neveah and one of her friends.

State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 62–65, 76–77; Ex. App. 67–70, 81–82. Neveah told Fenton that her friend was also fifteen, to which Fenton responded, "id love a dbl bj" and asked for a picture of the other girl. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 63–64; Ex. App. 68–69. Fenton also questioned whether Neveah's friend

wanted "throat fucked." State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 65; Ex. App. 70. During one of the discussions about a possible threesome, Fenton and Neveah had the following exchange:

Neveah: What would u do 4 a threesome

Fenton: what do i need to do lol

Neveah: Idk. Girls like food and clothes lol

Fenton: ok i have no prob spoiling a likl

Fenton: lil

State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 62–63; Ex. App. 67–68. In a later conversation, while the two were talking about meeting up, Neveah asked if he was going to bring her food:

Neveah: U bringing me some food?

Fenton: sure lol

Fenton: this cock

Fenton: jk

Neveah: Haha! Yes plz

Fenton: but fr

State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 47; Ex. App. 52.

When Fenton learned that Neveah did not have money to rent a shower room, he assured her that he would rent the shower. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 43; Ex. App. 48. The day before

the planned meeting, Neveah asked Fenton what he would like to do after their time in the shower and he said "whatever" would be fine. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 27; Ex. App. 32. Neveah asked what he liked to do, and Fenton told her he liked to smoke marijuana. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 27; Ex. App. 32. Neveah questioned whether Fenton had any marijuana and he responded that he would have to get more. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 26; Ex. App. 31. The two agreed that they would spend the afternoon smoking marijuana together after their time in the shower. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 25–26; Ex. App. 30–31.

On January 7, the day of the meet up, Fenton told Neveah he was having car problems and was not sure if he was going to make it to the Flying J. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 15–16; Ex. App. 20–21. After he told her he had failed in his attempts to get a ride, Fenton offered to pay for an Uber to bring her to his apartment, but she declined, again explaining that she needed to stay close to home in case her mom returned home. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 13; Ex. App. 18. Fenton also said that if he paid for an Uber ride and the shower, he would not be able to pay for an Uber

ride to take him back home. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 9; Ex. App. 14. Neveah told him that she had \$20 so she could assist in paying for something and was already close to the Flying J. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 9; Ex. App. 14. Hearing this, Fenton was convinced; he ordered himself an Uber ride to the Flying J and told Neveah to buy a shower from the clerk and wait upstairs. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 4; Ex. App. 9. Neveah explained that she did not know how to rent the shower so Fenton told her to wait and he would do it when he got there. State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation) at 3; Ex. App. 8.

Fenton arrived at the Flying J shortly after 1:30 p.m. and ran upstairs towards the shower where he believed Neveah was waiting for him. Trial Tr. 185:21–186:1. However, instead of Neveah, he found a team of agents and detectives waiting for him. Trial Tr. vol. 1 186:2–4.

Several days before the scheduled meetup at the Flying J,

Detective Lowe had coordinated with the Altoona Police Department
as well as agents from Internet Crimes Against Children Task Force

Program (ICAC) for additional assistance. Trial Tr. vol. 1 184:11–

185:3. Detective Lowe and another officer interviewed Fenton and

took him into custody. Trial Tr. vol. 2 24:10–12. The jury in Fenton's criminal trial heard a recording of that interview. *See* State's Trial Ex. 10 (Fenton interview).

At trial, Detective Lowe explained that there is a feature on Facebook that enables secret conversations, which Fenton utilized to make some messages he sent disappear after five seconds. Trial Tr. vol. 1 176:18–177:5, State's Trial Ex. 4 (secret message 1), Dkt. No. 59; Ex. App. 3, State's Trial Ex. 5 (secret message 2), Dkt. No. 60; Ex. App. 4. During one such secret conversation, Fenton sent Neveah a picture of his erect penis. Trial Tr. vol. 1 179:10–23, State's Trial Ex. 6 (Fenton's male genitals), Dkt. No. 61; Conf. App. 4. The State offered the picture at trial as State's Trial Exhibit 6, and the district court admitted it over Fenton's objection.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Overruling Fenton's Objection to State's Trial Exhibit 6 Because its Probative Value was not Outweighed by Either the Danger of Needlessly Presenting Cumulative Evidence or Unfair Prejudice.

Preservation of Error

Fenton objected to State's Trial Exhibit 6, alleging that it was needlessly cumulative and more prejudicial than probative. Trial Tr. vol. 1158:15–159:3. Therefore, the State does not contest error

preservation for this issue. *See State v. Brown*, 656 N.W.2d 355, 361 (Iowa 2003) ("The preservation of error doctrine is grounded in the idea that a specific objection to the admission of the evidence be made known, and the trial court be given an opportunity to pass upon the objection and correct any error.").

Standard of Review

The Court reviews evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion.

State v. Fontenot, 958 N.W.2d 549, 555 (Iowa 2021) (citing State v.

Paredes, 775 n.W.2d 554, 560 (Iowa 2009)).

Merits

It is well established that "[t]rial courts have discretion in determining whether the value of pictures as evidence outweighs their grisly nature." *State v. Neiderbach*, 837 N.W.2d 180, 202 (Iowa 2013) (citing *State v. Hickman*, 337 N.W.2d 512, 516 (Iowa 1983)). Because the district court did not abuse its discretion when determining State's Trial Exhibit 6 should be admitted in this case, Fenton's challenge should fail.

Fenton first alleges that the relevance of State's Trial Exhibit 6 was minimal. *See* Appellant's Br. at 21. Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be

without the evidence" and "the fact is of consequence in determining the action." Iowa R. Evid. 5.401. This is a relatively low bar, meaning that if evidence is excluded, it is often not due to its irrelevance. *See Neiderbach*, 837 N.W.2d at 238. Fenton was charged with solicitation of commercial sexual activity and therefore, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Fenton intended to engage in commercial sexual activity. *See* Jury Inst. No. 14, Dkt. No. 66; App. 13. The picture that Fenton took of his genitals and sent to a 15-year-old girl he was planning to meet up with for sex is relevant to that issue. Therefore, this argument should fail.

Fenton also alleges that the district court erred in admitting State's Trial Exhibit 6 because admitting the picture was needlessly cumulative since the jury was aware the picture existed. *See* Appellant's Br. at 22. Fenton further alleges that the probative value of the picture was outweighed by its prejudicial effect because allowing the actual picture into evidence could have triggered the jury's instinct to punish or improperly influenced the jury's view of the case. *See* Appellant's Br. at 22–23. These arguments should also fail.

To determine whether evidence should be excluded, the district court applies a two-part test. First, the court should "consider the probative value of the evidence." *State v. Cromer*, 765 N.W.2d 1, 8 (Iowa 2009) (citing *State v. Harmon*, 238 N.W.2d 139, 145 (Iowa 1976)). Second, the court should balance the probative value of the evidence against the danger of its prejudicial or wrongful effect on the jury. *Id.* Evidence will only be excluded if it is determined that "the probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of unfair prejudice." *State v. Rodriquez*, 636 N.W.2d 234, 239–40 (Iowa 2001), Iowa R. Evid. 403.

Regarding the first prong of the test, and as argued above,
State's Trial Exhibit 6 was probative of Fenton's intent to engage in
commercial sexual activity. As to the second prong of the test, the
evidence was not needlessly cumulative and the probative value of
admitting the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger
of its prejudicial effect on the jury. The evidence was not needlessly
cumulative because the jury would not necessarily have known that
Fenton actually sent a picture of his erect penis to Neveah by listening
to Fenton's interview with the detectives, even if the recording of the
interview likely alerted the jury to the fact that the detectives believed

Fenton sent such a picture to Neveah. Throughout the interview, Fenton was hesitant when pressed about whether he sent a picture of his erect penis to Neveah. State's Trial Exhibit 10 (Fenton interview) at 14:40–16:58, 19:14–20:01. State's Trial Exhibit 6 allowed the jury to confirm that Fenton sent a picture of his erect penis to Neveah.

Further, the probative value of the picture is not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Subject to the court's discretion, the State was able to choose which evidence to admit to in order to prove that Fenton intended to engage in commercial sexual activity. See Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d at 203 (holding that a video that depicted a minor's injuries was not unfairly prejudicial when the video was a fair depiction of the minor's condition even if there was other evidence that would prove the injuries and be less likely to inflame the jury); State v. Brown, No. 98-1987, 2000 WL 278548, at *4-5 2 (Iowa Ct. Appeals, March 15, 2000) (holding that the district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting pornography when it corroborated the victim's testimony and allowed the jury to understand the defendant's plan to sexually abuse a minor). After hearing from both the defense and the State, the district court weighed the probative value that the picture would provide to the jury and compared it to the prejudicial effect a graphic picture might cause and determined that it was more probative than prejudicial. The district court did not abuse its discretion.

But even if the district court did abuse its broad discretion by admitting State's Trial Exhibit 6, any such error was harmless. To determine whether erroneously admitting an exhibit was harmless error, the Court looks to whether the error "injuriously affected" or "caused a miscarriage of justice" to the defendant. *See* Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a) ("A party may claim error in a ruling to admit or exclude evidence only if the error affects a substantial right of the party."); *State v. Parker*, 747 N.W.2d 196, 209 (Iowa 2008) ("When a nonconstitutional error is claimed, as in this case, the test is whether the rights of the objecting party have been 'injuriously affected by the error' or whether the party has 'suffered a miscarriage of justice.'" (quotation omitted)).

Fenton alleges that State's Trial Exhibit 6 called upon the jury to judge Fenton by his character, rather than presume his innocence. *See* Appellant's Br. at 23. This allegation lacks merit. Even without the photo, the evidence available to the jury included the live testimony of three law enforcement officers, the explicit 162-page

Facebook conversation upon which the entire criminal case rested, and the interview with Fenton, which together provided overwhelming evidence of Fenton's guilt. *See* Trial Tr. vol. 1 141:17–150:20, 151:9–157:8, 163:23–188:9, Trial Tr. vol. 2 21:17–34:17, State's Trial Ex. 7 (Facebook conversation), Ex. App. 6–167; State's Trial Ex. 10 (Fenton interview) at 14:40.

The district court did not err in overruling Fenton's objection to State's Trial Exhibit 6 because the probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of needlessly presenting cumulative evidence or the danger of unfair prejudice. Further, even if the district court did err, the error was harmless. Fenton's conviction should be affirmed.

II. Sufficient Evidence Proved Fenton's Guilt for Solicitation of Commercial Sexual Activity.

Preservation of Error

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